1980

Pepperidge Farm, Inc. v. the Board of Review,  
Department of Employment Security, Industrial  
Commission of Utah, John I. Johnson and Austin  
C. Molisa : Brief of Plaintiff

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF THE CASE

This is an action before the Supreme Court of the State of Utah seeking judicial review of a decision of the Board of Review of the Industrial Commission of Utah, which determined claimants John I. Johnson and Austin C. Nolisa to be qualified to receive unemployment benefits from December 17, 1978 to January 27, 1979.

DISPOSITION AND PROCEEDINGS BELOW

Defendant-claimants John I. Johnson and Austin C. Nolisa filed claims for unemployment compensation which were granted by representatives of the Department of Employment Security. The decision entitling claimants to receive benefits

was, following plaintiff's timely appeal, reversed by the Appeal Referee. The defendant-claimants appealed and the Board of Review of the Industrial Commission of Utah reversed the decision of the Appeal Referee and reaffirmed the decision of the Department Representative allowing the defendant-claimants to receive unemployment benefits. Plaintiff's Petition for Reconsideration and Request for Oral Argument was denied by the Board of Review.

#### RELIEF SOUGHT ON REVIEW

Plaintiff petitions this court to reverse the decision of the Board of Review, Department of Employment Security, Industrial Commission of Utah and determine that defendant-claimants John I. Johnson and Austin C. Nolisa were ineligible to receive unemployment benefits from December 19, 1978 to January 27, 1979, and that the overpayments received by said claimants be repaid or deducted from future unemployment benefits received.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

John I. Johnson and Austin C. Nolisa voluntarily terminated their employment with Pepperidge Farm, Inc. on September 23, 1978. Mr. Johnson had been employed by plaintiff since June, 1976 while Mr. Nolisa had been in plaintiff's employ since March, 1976. At the time of their voluntary termination, both claimants were employed full-time and held the position of Plant Services "B" employees at a wage of \$4.26 per hour.



Pepperidge Farm began manufacturing operations in Richmond, Utah in 1974. Job classifications were established according to the practices of other Pepperidge Farm plants in other areas of the country. As the plant management became acquainted with its own operations and employment needs, it became apparent that some job reclassifications were necessary.

A management committee reviewed job responsibilities in August, 1977, and certain employee positions were reclassified. At the time of this review, claimants Johnson and Nolisa were employed on the afternoon shift as Plant Services Helpers. As a result of the committees review, the job classification of Plant Services Helper was divided into two separate groups or job classifications: "Plant Services A" and "Plant Services B". The "A" group was given higher pay due to their greater responsibilities.

When reclassification occurred, claimants Johnson and Nolisa were not working the same shift as those employees reclassified as Plant Services "A". Consequently, the defendant-claimants remained in the Plant Services "B" group and their wages were not increased since their responsibilities were different from those in the "A" group. Claimants requested a reconsideration of their positions on two separate occasions. Both times the committee determined that the distinction between the job classifications of Plant Services "B" and Plant Services "A" employees was proper and appropriate.

On at least five separate occasions subsequent to the job reclassifications, both claimants had an opportunity to bid for the position of Plant Services "A". Neither claimant made any effort to bid for this position and consequently, both remained in group "B".

On August 29, 1978 claimants Johnson and Nolisa were both disciplined for failure to carry through or accept direction from their supervisors. Claimant Johnson was suspended for two days without pay for insubordination. Claimant Nolisa was suspended for five days without pay.

At the time of his suspension, Nolisa informed plaintiff that he was going to quit anyway to go back to school and that he planned to terminate on September 23, 1979. Claimant Johnson also gave notice at the time of his suspension of his intent to voluntarily terminate on September 23, 1979, stating that he also was returning to school.

Subsequent to their suspension, both claimants returned to their regular employment until they voluntarily quit on September 23, 1979 as planned. When presented with discharge slips which indicated their reason for terminating as "quitting to return to school", both claimants refused to accept the discharge slips and requested that they be rewritten to state that the claimants had "resigned", which plaintiff did.

The defendant-claimants filed claims for unemployment benefits with the Utah Department of Employment Security during the month of November, 1978, requesting eligibility for

benefits from the date of their voluntary termination of employment with plaintiff. A Department Representative of the defendant-Industrial Commission determined both claimants eligible to receive unemployment compensation effective December 17, 1978 on the grounds that their separations were not disqualifying.

Upon learning that the defendant-claimants had applied for unemployment benefits and had been determined eligible to receive compensation, plaintiff appealed the decision of the Department Representative. A hearing with the Appeal Referee in the Appeals Office of the Industrial Commission of Utah, Department of Employment Security, was held in Logan, Utah on February 8, 1979.

The Appeal Referee determined that claimants Johnson and Nolisa had voluntarily terminated their employment with plaintiff without good cause and had received unemployment benefits to which they were not entitled. The Appeal Referee reversed the decision of the Department Representative and determined that both claimants were disqualified from receiving unemployment compensation from December 17, 1978 to January 27, 1979 pursuant to Section 35-4-5(a) of the Utah Employment Security Act. The reversal also provided that the overpayments received by the defendant-claimants would be deducted from any future unemployment benefits received by them after January 27, 1979.

The defendant-claimants appealed the decision of the Appeal Referee to the Board of Review, Industrial Commission of Utah, and submitted to the Board of Review a Memorandum of Points and Authorities dated March 27, 1979, a Motion for Admission of Affidavits dated March 22, 1979, and Affidavits dated March 14, 1979. Plaintiff filed a Responsive Memorandum with the Board of Review dated May 18, 1979, in addition to a Notice of Right Reserved to File Counter Affidavits dated May 18, 1979, and an Affidavit dated May 25, 1979.

The Board of Review in a split decision, James F. Hannon dissenting, reversed the decision of the Appeal Referee and affirmed the decision of the Department Representative in ruling that the defendant-claimants voluntarily left work with good cause and were eligible to receive unemployment benefits effective December 17, 1978. The Board of Review declined to reconsider its decision despite plaintiff's Petition for Reconsideration and Request for Oral Argument dated July 18, 1979.

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I

THE EVIDENCE DOES NOT SUPPORT A FINDING THAT  
CLAIMANTS HAD GOOD CAUSE FOR VOLUNTARILY  
TERMINATING THEIR EMPLOYMENT WITH PLAINTIFF

The Utah Supreme Court has held on more than one occasion that where a decision of the Industrial Commission concerning the right of a claimant to receive unemployment compensation is unsupported by substantial evidence, a reversal

of the order is appropriate. Martinez v. Board of Review,  
Department of Employment Security, 25 Utah 2d 131, 477 P.2d 587  
(1970); Kennecott Copper Corp. Employees v. Department of  
Employment Security, 13 Utah 2d 262, 372 P.2d 987 (1962).  
Indeed, a reversal of the decision of the Board of Review,  
Industrial Commission of Utah is justified in the instant case.

Although the defendant-claimants maintain that their  
voluntary termination of employment with Pepperidge Farm was  
justified and not disqualifying, the evidence on record fails  
to support a finding that claimants Johnson and Nolisa quit  
their employment with good cause.

Claimants have alleged that they were forced to  
terminate their employment with plaintiff and that they were  
harrassed and mistreated by plaintiff. (R. 00068, 00069,  
00070, 00072, 00073, 00074). The evidence, however,  
establishes that the defendant-claimants were not forced to  
quit their jobs but rather terminated their employment with  
plaintiff voluntarily and of their own free will.

After quitting their jobs with plaintiff, both  
claimants filed with the defendant-Industrial Commission to  
receive unemployment benefits. The claims for benefits  
submitted by defendants Johnson and Nolisa did not state that  
they were forced to leave plaintiff's employment. Not only did  
the claimants make no mention of the now alleged harrassment  
and mistreatment, but both claimants indicated on their claims  
for unemployment benefits that their reason for unemployment  
was simply that they "Quit". (R. 00123, 00124).

The defendant-claimants voluntarily terminated their employment with plaintiff in order to return to school, not because of any pressure, harrassment, mistreatment or force on the part of plaintiff. Both claimants, well in advance of their termination date, informed plaintiff that they were quitting to return to school. (R. 00038, 00082, 00085, 00091, 00101).

Claimant Johnson commenced work for plaintiff in June, 1976 as a Plant Services Helper, later reclassified as a Plant Services "B" employee. (R. 00038, 00042, 00067, 00068). In August, 1978, Johnson was suspended for two days without pay for insubordination. (R. 00037, 00042). At the time of his suspension he stated that he was "going to quit." When asked why, he responded, "I am going back to school." Johnson stated that his last day of employment with plaintiff would be September 23, 1979. (R. 00042, 00082, 00085, 00091).

Claimant Nolisa began working for plaintiff in May, 1976 as a production worker and later became a Plant Services Helper, reclassified as a Plant Services "B" employee. (R. 00038, 00043, 00072). Nolisa was insubordinate to his foreman on August 28, 1978 and was suspended for five days without pay. (R. 00037, 00072, 00073). At the time of his suspension, Nolisa informed plaintiff that he was quitting anyway and planned to leave September 23, 1978 in order to return to school. (R. 00037, 00038, 00043, 00091).

That the defendant-claimants voluntarily terminated their employment with plaintiff so that they could return to school was further pointed out by the testimony of Dale Stokes, Personnel Manager of Pepperidge Farm, at the hearing with the Appeal Referee on February 8, 1978:

On August 29, 1978, both John Johnson and Austin Nolisa gave notice to Pepperidge Farms of their impending termination. They both stated at that time, they would be resigning. Their last day of work would be September 23, 1978. Their resignation was due to the fact that they were going to return to school on a full-time basis. On September 23, 1978, they did in fact work their last day.

(R. 00091).

Following their suspension, claimants returned to their work and continued working their regular shifts until September 23, 1978 when they both quit as they had planned. When the defendant-claimants were presented with their discharge slips upon termination, which indicated that they were "quitting to return to school", claimants Johnson and Nolisa refused to accept their discharge slips and requested plaintiff to rewrite them to indicate that they had "resigned", which plaintiff did. (R. 00042, 00043).

The discharge slips prepared by plaintiff stated that the defendant-claimants were quitting to attend school since that was the reason plaintiff had been given by Johnson and Nolisa. Concerning the circumstances of the claimants' separation, the testimony of Dale Stokes during the hearing with Appeal Referee is relevant:

Referee Now, then since we have played the record prior to the claimant and claimant's representative being sworn in, what had occurred prior to their entry into the hearing, we will allow Mr. Stokes to continue at this time as to the circumstances of the individuals' separation and why they are appealing.

Stokes Because September 23, 1978 was on a Saturday, and is their last of work, both Mr. Johnson and Mr. Nolisa were scheduled for exit interviews, as is normal procedure by the company, on Friday, September 22. When they came in for the exit interview, they were given the Utah Department of Employment Security Separation Notices, as required by law. Each of them refused to accept the notice, stating that they did not wish to have it written as it was presented to them, in that it said that their reason for leaving was to go to school. Mr. Nolisa said that his first reason was, "he is tired of the discriminatory attitude in the plant." And secondarily, that he was going to return to school. The company had no knowlegde of this contention prior to that time. Mr. Johnson made no statement whatsoever. Subsequent to the termination in September of 1978, both claimants filed for unemployment compensation. The Notice of Claim Filed states that the claimant reports the reason for separation from your firm as "I left." That is true of both statements. Again, the claimants this time gave no reason for termination. It is the company's contention that they left voluntarily without good cause for resignation and without compensable cause for resignation. That is the only question in this hearing so far as the company is concerned.

(R. 00091).

The defendant-claimants have not denied that they informed plaintiff they were quitting to return to school, and the fact that plaintiff prepared discharge slips for the claimants indicating that they were quitting to attend school is relevant to plaintiff's belief that claimants Johnson and Nolisa voluntarily left their jobs for that sole purpose, as was pointed out by the Appeal Referee during the hearing:



Green . . .The blue slip, in which I saw, you know, glanced at said, "To attend school.", you know, but based upon that contention, when the claimant was going to school for the whole of, still are going to school, then, you know, well, it is irrelevant to me.

Referee No, that is not necessarily irrelevant. This was the reason that they gave the employer that they were leaving at that time. That becomes, then, the reason he puts down.

Green Okay. And if that is the reason that he put down arbitrarily, and they didn't accept the blue slip for, it is also my contention that, because they did not accept the blue slip, it wasn't right.

Referee That doesn't change the fact that they both went to school, does it?

(R. 00100, 00101). (Emphasis supplied).

That the claimants voluntarily quit their jobs with plaintiff to return to school is supported by more than substantial evidence. Both claimants informed plaintiff that they were quitting to return to school. (R. 00091). Both gave notice that they intended to quit well in advance of their actual termination date, indicating that their decision to leave was preplanned rather than the result of any force or harrassment by plaintiff. (R. 00042, 00043, 00082, 00085, 00091). Claimants Johnson and Nolisa both terminated their employment with plaintiff on the exact day they had stated they would. (R. 00091, 00092). The claims for unemployment benefits submitted by both claimants to the defendant-Industrial Commission stated only that they had "Quit". (R. 00123, 00124). Furthermore, the discharge slips prepared by plaintiff for the defendant-claimants upon their

termination indicated that both claimants were "quitting to return to school", as plaintiff had been told that they were. (R. 00091, 00100, 00101). Finally, both claimants began to attend school at Utah State University in Logan, Utah on a full-time basis on September 26, 1978, the Tuesday following the day they quit. (R. 00092).

Despite the overwhelming evidence that claimants Johnson and Nolisa voluntarily quit to return to school, they claim that they quit due to unsatisfactory working conditions, consisting of their failure to obtain the status of Plant Services "A" employees. The record however, shows that the reclassification claimants complain of occurred at least sixteen months prior to their termination (R. 00031, 00033, 00096) and that pursuant to the request of Johnson and Nolisa, plaintiff on two separate occasions reconsidered the reclassifications only to determine that they were proper and appropriate and that no changes were necessary. (R. 00039).

The record further establishes that all of plaintiff's employees in the Plant Services "B" category, including the defendant-claimants, received the same hourly wage. (R. 00038, 00097). Although the Plant Services "A" employees received a higher wage, their responsibilities require greater skills and abilities than those required of the Plant Services "B" employees, such as the disassembly and assembly of machines and equipment for cleaning purposes. (R. 00039, 00043).

Furthermore, the defendant-claimants each had the opportunity on at least five separate occasions to bid for the position of Plant Services "A" employee, yet neither claimant made any effort to do so. (R. 00039, 00044, 00099).

The defendant-claimants voluntarily terminated their employment with plaintiff without force, harrassment or mistreatment. Both claimants left for the purpose of returning to school which they did. Furthermore, the job reclassification complained of by claimants was proper and necessary and within the province of the plaintiff-employer. Therefore, the evidence does not support a finding that claimants Johnson and Nolisa terminated their employment with good cause, and the decision of the Board of Review should be reversed.

## POINT II

### SECTION 35-4-5(a) OF THE UTAH EMPLOYMENT SECURITY ACT DISQUALIFIES CLAIMANTS FROM RECEIVING UNEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS FROM DECEMBER 17, 1978 to JANUARY 27, 1979

Section 35-4-5(a), Utah Code Annotated 1953, as amended provides:

An individual shall be ineligible for benefits for the purposes of establishing a waiting period:

(a) For the week in which the claimant left work voluntarily without good cause, if so found by the commission, and for each week thereafter until the claimant has performed services in bona fide covered employment and earned wages for such services equal to at least six times the claimant's weekly benefit amount; provided, that no claimant shall be ineligible for benefits if the claimant leaves work under circumstances of such a nature that it would be contrary to equity and good conscience to impose a disqualification.

In the instant case, the defendant-claimants did not have good cause for voluntarily leaving their work with plaintiff.

A. Claimants Terminated Employment to Return to School

In Logan-Cache Knitting Mills v. Industrial Commission, 99 Utah 1, 102 P.2d 495 (1940), the Court enforced subdivision (a) of Utah Code Annotated § 35-4-5 in determining a claimant to be ineligible for unemployment benefits where it was established that he had left his job without good cause. The meaning of "good cause" as it applies to Section 35-4-5(a) has been discussed by the Utah Supreme Court. In Denby v. Board of Review of Industrial Commission, 567 P.2d 626 at 630 (Utah 1977), this Court stated:

The initial determination of "good cause," for voluntarily leaving employment, is a mixed question of law and fact for the administrative agency. A claimant has the burden of showing good cause for leaving, when he voluntarily terminates suitable employment. "Good cause" has been defined as "such cause as would similarly affect persons of reasonable and normal sensitivity, and is limited to those instances where the unemployment is caused by external pressures so compelling that a reasonably prudent person, exercising ordinary common sense and prudence, would be justified in quitting under similar circumstances." (Emphasis supplied).

See also Miles v. Gronning, 581 P.2d 1334, 1338-1339 (Utah 1978).

It has been stated that the purpose of the Utah Employment Security Act is "to establish financial reserves for the benefit of persons unemployed through no fault of their

own." Alvord v. Board of Review of Industrial Commission, 1 Utah 2d 388, 267 P.2d 914 (1954). Although no Utah case appears to be on point, other jurisdictions applying similar unemployment statutes have repeatedly held that the unemployment system cannot be used to subsidize an employee's education.

In Keisling v. Unemployment Compensation Board of Review, 181 A.2d 717 (Pa. 1962), the claimant had terminated his employment to allow him to complete his last year of school. In ruling that the claimant was disqualified from receiving unemployment benefits, the court on page 718 of its opinion stated:

However praiseworthy we may consider the thirst for knowledge to be, it has become abundantly clear that leaving employment to further one's education does not constitute leaving work for a cause of necessitous and compelling nature.

The case of Fenstersheib v. Unemployment Compensation Board of Review, 124 A.2d 375 (Pa. 1956), also involved a claimant who had voluntarily left his employment to return to school. In ruling against the claimant, the court on page 376, proclaimed:

While the desire to attend school is a laudable one, the termination of employment for that reason cannot be deemed "good cause".

In Perales v. Department of Human Resources Development, 32 Cal.App. 3d 338, 108 Cal. Rptr. 167, 171 (1973), the court held that voluntarily terminating ones

employment to return to school does not constitute "good cause" as required by the unemployment insurance system:

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