1979

Pepperidge Farm, Inc. v. the Board of Review,
Department of Employment Security, Industrial
Commission of Utah, John I. Johnson and Austin
C. Molisa : Brief of Defendant

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THAT IN REVIEWING DETERMINATIONS OF THE INDUSTRIAL COMMISSION UNDER THE UTAH EMPLOYMENT SECURITY ACT THE COURT WILL AFFIRM THE FINDINGS OF THE BOARD OF REVIEW IF SUCH ARE SUSTAINED BY SUBSTANTIAL COMPETENT EVIDENCE.

The standard of review in unemployment insurance cases is well established. Section 35-4-10(i), Utah Code Annotated, 1953, provides in part:

In any judicial proceedings under this section the findings of the Commission and the Board of Review as to the facts if supported by evidence shall be conclusive and the jurisdiction of said Court shall be confined to questions of law.

This Court has consistently held that where the findings of the Commission and the Board of Review are supported by evidence, they will not be disturbed. *Martinez v. Board of Review*, 25 U. 2d 131, 477 P. 2d 587 (1970). In analyzing the above referenced review provision, this Court has stated:

Under Section 35-4-10(i) the role of this Court is to sustain the determination of the Board of Review unless the record clearly and persuasively proves the action of the Board was arbitrary, capricious, and unreasonable. Specifically, as a matter of law, the determination was wrong; because only the opposite conclusion could be drawn from the facts. *Continental Oil Company v. Board of Review of the Industrial Commission of Utah*, (Utah, 1977) 568 P. 2d 727, 729.

POINT II

SECTION 35-4-5(a), UTAH CODE ANNOTATED 1953, AS AMENDED, IS INTENDED TO DISQUALIFY FROM THE RECEIPT OF UNEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS ONLY THOSE INDIVIDUALS WHO ARE UNEMPLOYED BY REASON OF THEIR OWN FAULT.

Section 35-4-5(a), Utah Code Annotated 1953, as amended, provides:

- 35-4-5 An individual shall be ineligible for benefits or for purposes of establishing a waiting period:
- (a) For the week in which he has left work voluntarily without good cause, if so found by the commission, and for not less than one or more than the five next following weeks, as determined by the commission according to the circumstances in each case, provided that when such individual has had no bona fide employment between the week in which he voluntarily left such work without good cause and the week in which he filed for benefits he shall be so disqualified for the week in which he filed for benefits and for not less than one or more than the five next following weeks.

Plaintiff quotes Section 35-4-5(a) as amended by the 1979 legislature. However, the applicable version of Section 5(a) is that quoted above, as it was constituted prior to

the effective date of the 1979 amendments. This being by reason of the facts that the claimants' quit occurred in September, 1978, the claims were filed in December, 1978, and the issues were adjudicated in January, 1979, all prior to the effective date of the 1979 amendments.

This Court has previously held that the purpose of the Employment Security Act is to assist a worker and his family in times when he is out of work **without fault on his part**. See *Kennecott Copper Corporation Employees v. Department of Employment Security*, 13 U. 2d 262, 372 P. 2d 987 (1962); and that the Department is to determine a claimant's eligibility for unemployment compensation by adhering to the volitional test. *Olaf Nelson Construction Company v. The Industrial Commission*, 121 U. 521, 243 P. 2d 951 (1952); *Mills v. Gronning*, (Utah, 1978) 581 P. 2d 1334.

However, a claimant voluntarily leaving work with good cause is in fact unemployed without fault. This Court explained the reason for the good cause exception in the following terms:

"What is 'good cause' must reflect the underlying purpose of the Act to relieve against the distress of involuntary unemployment. The seeming paradox of allowing benefits to an individual whose unemployment is of his own volition disappears when the context of the words is viewed in that light. The legislature contemplated that when an individual voluntarily leaves a job under the pressure of circumstances which may reasonably be viewed as having compelled him to do so, the termination of his employment is involuntary for the purposes of the Act. In statutory contemplation he can not then reasonably be judged as free to stay at the job..." *Denby v. Board of Review of the Industrial Commission of Utah*, (Utah, 1977) 567 P. 2d 626, 630; *Krauss v. M. Karagheusian, Inc.*, 13 N.J. 447, 100 A. 2d 277, 286 (1953).

The Court further explained "good cause" was limited to those instances where the unemployment was caused by external pressures so compelling a reasonable prudent person, exercising ordinary common sense and prudence, would be justified in quitting under similar circumstances. *Mills v. Gronning*, SUPRA.

In the instant case the claimants voluntarily quit their employment, but under circumstances constituting good cause, as shall be more fully explained in Point III hereof.

The cases cited by plaintiff with regard to the disqualification of individuals who quit work to attend school are substantially correct and the defendants agree with the principle enunciated within those cases. This Court has held on two occasions that attendance at school is disqualifying unless one of the statutory exemptions is met. *Norton v. Department of Employment Security*, 22 U. 2d 24, 447 P. 2d 907 (1968); *Townsend v. Board of Review of the Industrial Commission*, 27 U. 2d 94, 493 P. 2d 614 (1972). However, claimants did not quit work for the purpose of attending school, as is explained in detail in Point III hereof, and did meet the statutory exemption of having earned the major portion of their base period wages while attending school, (R.00119, R.00120) as provided in Section 35-4-5(g), Utah Code Annotated, 1953, as amended.

POINT III

THE BOARD OF REVIEW DID NOT ERR IN DETERMINING THAT CLAIMANTS HEREIN HAD GOOD CAUSE FOR LEAVING WORK.

Plaintiff has contended throughout the appeal process that the claimants left work in order to attend school. The claimants contend, on the other hand, that they were compelled to leave work when acts of discrimination against them intensified after they filed a discrimination complaint. Thus, the issue before the Court is whether the evidence of record supports the findings of the Board of Review that the problems the claimants had been experiencing during the sixteen months prior to their separation began to intensify after August 29, 1978, the date on which they filed their discrimination complaint, until claimants were no longer able to perform their jobs without conflicts with their lead workers and supervisors.

The initial determination of good cause for voluntarily leaving work is a mixed question of law and fact to be made by the administrative agency; the claimant has the burden of showing good cause; and he must indicate an effort to work out the problems

unless he can demonstrate that such efforts would be futile. *Denby v. Board of Review of the Industrial Commission of Utah, SUPRA.*

For sixteen months the claimants attempted to resolve their concern about a job reclassification initiated by the employer. (R.00068, R.00072, R.00095, R.00096, R.00097) The Plaintiff states in his petition for reconsideration to the Board of Review (R.00021) that no formal grievance was filed by the claimants and refers to the Plaintiff's grievance procedure. Yet, that very grievance procedure is couched in language of discussing problems, and does not require or even suggest that a formal grievance is required. (R.00025)

Plaintiff's personnel manager states in his affidavit "...There was never a complaint of discrimination or any adverse response to work assignment..." until after the claimants were suspended by the employer. (R.00039) Yet, claimant Nolisa testified

"Yes, I have something to say. Uh, according to the plant policy and the rules (inaudible) there were seven vacant positions they created by reassessing the jobs. And among these seven positions, I have the most seniority among the people who that was suppose to get the job. I was supposed to get a job. They didn't tell me these jobs were, these jobs were open. They just filled them and when I questioned why that happened, they told me my, my area manager told me that they had given the job to the people they thought were able to do the job. And then I asked, 'How, do you determine who is able and who is not able?' He said that some jobs need..uh..some sort of education or degree. I said, 'I have a B.S. degree. That most people who is working on that line, none of them have attended a college. Then, you think I can not do the job and they are the people who can do it?' Then, he didn't give me any answer. Second time, he is, second time I went in again because I was the only person willing to discuss with the management, I went in again and he told me the production manager told me, 'If you don't like what happening, you have been fighting this for a year and six months, and if you don't like it, you can leave.' "

In the face of such testimony, supported by overwhelming evidence as referenced above, the Board of Review reasonably rejected the employer's statement and found the claimants had in fact pursued a grievance for approximately sixteen months.

without success. Finally, they filed their discrimination complaints with the Industrial Commission. The merits of those discrimination complaints are not at issue herein. What is pertinent to the instant case is the fact that the evidence of record is abundant and convincing that after the claimants filed their discrimination complaints conditions deteriorated to the point the claimants were finally compelled to leave work.

On August 29, 1978, the claimants filed the above mentioned discrimination complaints. Inasmuch as the claimants worked the afternoon shift (R.00097, R.00099) it may be assumed that the complaints were filed before the claimants reported to work. Claimant Nolisa stated in his affidavit the events that followed in this manner.

"On the very day that John Johnson and I filed our racial discrimination claim against Pepperidge Farm, I was called to the office of the plant manager. He said, 'After all we have done for you this is what you are trying to pay us back with.' He then suspended me..." (R.00072)

The claimants were thereupon suspended from work as a disciplinary measure.

The claimants also specifically stated under oath that after filing their complaints the supervisors made alterations in claimant Johnson's work assignment which required excessive overtime; additional work assignments were given which had not previously been required of Johnson; Johnson's supervisors began to follow him around complaining that assignments were being done inadequately, which was previously not done; and Johnson was accused of interfering with production. (R.00068, R.00069) Upon tendering his resignation, the problems alleged by Johnson ended. (R.00069)

Claimant Nolisa stated that after returning to work from being on suspension he was given tedious yet dangerous jobs which had not previously been assigned to the general sanitation crew; he was directed to enter and clean a baking oven while in

operation on three separate occasions, although such had not been previously required; he was assigned to collect plant garbage, which assignment had not previously been given to anyone else in his section; other workers intentionally hindered him in completing his work assignments and management did not respond to this interference; parts were removed from his car while in the plant parking lot; and he was accused of deliberately sabotaging production. (R.00073) Upon tendering his resignation the problems charged by claimant Nolisa no longer occurred. (R.00074)

In response to the foregoing specific charges by the claimants, the Plaintiff submitted the hearsay statement, under oath, of the personnel manager who did not have personal knowledge of any of the incidents charged, but who did make a general denial based on an investigation conducted by him. Under such circumstances, the Board of Review could consider the specific direct statements under oath of the claimants to be more credible than the hearsay statements under oath made by Plaintiff's personnel manager.

In light of the facts recited above, it is obvious that the claimants' comments on the day of their suspension with regard to returning to school were statements made in exasperation at the manner in which they were being treated and did not constitute the actual reason for their quit. This conclusion is supported by the fact that both claimants attended school during most of the time they were employed by Plaintiff. (R.00092, R.00119, R.00120) In fact, claimant Johnson stated that his continued employment was the only means by which he was able to attend school, and that he was compelled to temporarily withdraw from school when he lost his job. (R.00069) Under such circumstances the Board of Review properly concluded that claimants did not quit their employment in order to attend school.

In a case very similar to the instant matter, the Supreme Court of Pennsylvania allowed benefits to a Black claimant who quit his job because of verbal abuse due to his race. After determining that incidents of racially derogatory remarks may constitute good cause, the Court held:

Applying these principles to the instant case, we are convinced that appellant has sustained his burden of showing that his termination of employment was with cause of a necessitous and compelling nature by demonstrating that his conduct was consistent with ordinary common sense and prudence, and that the circumstances prompting the severance of the employment were substantial. Appellant and his witnesses testified to several instances in which he was subjected to verbal abuse because of his race. Such verbal abuse was a continuing occurrence throughout appellant's three year employment at Victor's Restaurant. The continuing racial tension created by such abuse caused appellant repeated humiliation and apprehension. These reactions were not merely whims, nor were they caused by any overly sensitive emotional condition on appellant's part. The humiliation and apprehension were emotions grounded in reality and were substantial burdens placed upon appellant's ability to perform his job. The degrading and abusive effects of the repeated expressions of racial prejudice were cumulative in nature and ultimately created an employment condition which would have been intolerable to any reasonable person in similar circumstances. The record establishes that appellant left his job after suffering through three years of such repeated incidents of racial prejudice and verbal abuse... The termination was with cause of a necessitous and compelling nature and appellant should not have been denied compensation. *Taylor v. Unemployment Compensation Board of Review*, 474 Pa. 351, 378 A. 2d 829 (1977).

The parallels with the instant matter are obvious. Claimants Johnson and Nolis attempted for sixteen months to resolve a racial grievance. When they finally filed their discrimination complaints with the Industrial Commission they were immediately suspended and thereafter were mistreated by supervision and their co-workers until it was no longer possible to carry out their work assignments. They thereupon quit by tendering their resignations on September 9, 1978. (R.00117, R.00118) The Board of Review correctly concluded that such circumstances were compelling and constituted good cause as defined by this Court in *Denby v. Board of Review of the Industrial Commission of Utah*, SUPRA.

CONCLUSION

The evidence in support of the decision of the Board of Review is both competent and substantial. The decisions allowing benefits to the claimants and setting aside the overpayments of \$738.00 for each should, therefore, be affirmed.